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Permission to Board

[image: 001]

The weather in Ireland is like nowhere else in the world.

Take the morning of 12 April 2008. I’m standing outside my dad’s house on the edge of the Wicklow Mountains and I can see blue sky and sunshine. I can also see a dull, wispy cloud, and - on the other side of the house - some ominous-looking thunderheads.

Russ comes out. Gazing up he raises one eyebrow. ‘Which way are we going?’

I point to where the sky is bluest. ‘That way: where you can feel the love.’

I’m wearing an open-faced helmet and goggles, and my Belstaff jacket. Russ is wearing old-fashioned motorbike boots, an aged leather jacket and a silk scarf. I throw my leg over my hand-built T110 ‘Bobber’. In just a few moments we’ll be on our way. To Sydney. Australia.

 



It had been Russ’s idea.

In August 2007 Ewan and I had completed our ‘Long Way Down’ trip from John O’Groats to Cape Town. Russ Malkin was our expedition leader - he’s also a great friend and along with Ewan had been instrumental in getting not only Long Way Down off the ground but also our first trip, Long Way Round. It was now the back end of 2007, and Russ and I were kicking around a few suggestions about what we should do next.

In November we flew to Valencia for the last Moto GP of the season. I’ve got a lot of friends in the paddock: Chris Vermeulen, Randy Mamola, Kenny Roberts - it’s a race we always try to get to. I was really excited because I had been invited to do a couple of laps on the back of Randy’s two-seater Ducati on the race day itself. I think Russ was jealous. He said nothing, but he had to be, didn’t he? I’d be green with envy: a couple of laps on a GP bike that weighs 165 kg and produces in excess of 250 bhp. Michael Schumacher himself had ridden it just a few weeks before.

On Saturday night we ate dinner in the hotel. Qualifying for the race was over and Dani Pedrosa was on pole. It was going to be a cracking finale to the season and I was looking forward to it. At the same time, I couldn’t stop thinking about what I would do  once the season was over. I was eager to start on a new adventure. As we finished eating I brought up the subject of the Australian Safari: a southern hemisphere ‘Dakar’ with bikes, cars and trucks. It started in Kununurra, Western Australia, and finished in Perth six days later.

‘I wouldn’t mind doing it,’ I told Russ, ‘but I don’t know if it’s feasible.’

‘We could do it,’ Russ said. ‘You know we could. We did the Dakar, we could do this.’

‘What about the logistics?’

He shrugged. ‘We could set most of it up down there. It wouldn’t be hard, but then it wouldn’t be that challenging either. All you would have to do is jump on a plane.’

Jump on a plane, right. Somehow that didn’t inspire me. Jump on a plane and get where we’re going just as fast as we can. I can’t help feeling sometimes that we’re all rushing through our lives, living so quickly that we’re burning out in the process. It reminded me of what Ewan had said about our trip through Africa: we hadn’t always allowed ourselves enough time. I wanted to be sure with my next trip that we always factored in enough time to experience everything properly.

Russ opened his wallet to pay the bill and his boarding pass fell out. I picked it up. ‘It’s all so easy,’ I said, turning the pass round in my hand. ‘You go to an airport, get one of these, jump on a plane and fly off to wherever you’re going. Anywhere you like. Anywhere in the world.’

Russ looked at me thoughtfully. ‘You know what?’ he said. ‘We don’t have to do the Safari, but we can still go to Australia.’

‘What do you mean?’

Taking the boarding pass he scribbled the word ‘London’ in the top left-hand corner. Then he wrote ‘Sydney’ in the bottom right-hand corner. ‘You remember back in Cape Town, Charley: you said how lucky we were to travel all those old roads while they were still there.’

I nodded. I remembered only too well: it had been all I could think about as Ewan and I rode the last bit of dirt to Cape Agulhas.

‘You remember how we talked about doing an expedition just  for the hell of it, packing up and taking off: no back-up trucks, no medic, no security? So why don’t we?’ Russ traced a line on the boarding pass between London and Sydney. ‘We could do that,’ he said. ‘London to Sydney. Only we don’t take a plane. The roads in Africa were made by donkeys and camels; they were made by thousands of people walking. They were made by tuk-tuks and old taxis, those ancient buses with a million people packed on them.’ He paused for a moment, thinking. ‘How about this: we go to Australia by any means we can other than taking a plane from Heathrow. We pick a route and cross each country, each piece of water, using a different form of transport. We jump on trains and old buses: we hitch a ride with some long-distance lorry driver somewhere; someone who’s been making the trip for years.’

Now I could see where he was coming from. ‘I get you,’ I said, starting to catch his excitement. ‘We’d have to do some of it on motorbikes, though; Christ, I’d get withdrawal symptoms. Maybe we could ride some old British bikes: Ewan and I were going to Bantam around Britain one day. Bloody hell, I like this, Russ! It sounds like a lot of fun. It’s the kind of thing I used to do as a kid. Dad would be off to the Amazon or God knows where, and we’d all just clear off with him.’

‘How is your dad by the way?’

‘He’s really well.’ I started telling Russ how my dad was working on a project about Hadrian. It was the usual nightmare - trying to find an ‘A’ list lead in order to green-light the film.

I soon realised Russ wasn’t really listening to my thoughts on the perils of working in the film industry. I could see his mind was whirring again. ‘Wouldn’t it be great to start the trip from County Wicklow?’

‘You mean from Dad’s place?’

‘Why not? It’s where you grew up, it’s where you rode your first motorbike.’

I felt a smile spread across my face. ‘County Wicklow to Sydney, by any means possible. You know, it does have a ring to it, Russ . . .’

 



Since then everything had happened so quickly. After just a couple of months’ preparation, here we were in Ireland, ready to leave my  dad’s house at the start of another major expedition. My only regret was that I would be away from my wife and daughters again so soon after the last one.

Along with our new cameraman, Mungo, Russ and I had stayed the night with my dad in the house I’d grown up in - an old rectory with the River Avonmore running through the grounds. I remember Dad always said that although the house might belong to him, and the land perhaps, the river was only passing through.

The whole expedition was going to be filmed as a fly-on-the-wall documentary and we’d considered a few different camera operators: what we needed was someone who could do the job day in day out for three and a half months, carry the gear we’d need and put up with Russ and me at the same time. Not much to ask, was it? When we met Paul Mungeam (or Mungo as he’s known to his mates) we knew we had the right guy. Emerging from the kitchen now, he took a lingering look at my saddle; very small and very thin. ‘You’re going to have a numb bum,’ he said.

Dad came out with his hands in his pockets. ‘I wish you’d fuck off,’ he said. ‘You’re churning up my lawn.’ He looked at me with a glint in his eyes. ‘Motorbikes,’ he muttered. ‘I have no feeling for them, nothing at all. I suppose they’re a nice way of prolonging adolescence, but when I was a boy I wanted to be a man.’ Then he grinned and gave me a hug. ‘Good luck, Charley. I’m proud of you.’

I hugged him back - and I’ll admit we were both a little tearful. I’m not sure if my dad realised this, but in a way it was because of him that I was doing this trip. He and my mum instilled in me the sense of wanderlust, the desire to see new places and get to know people I’d never ordinarily meet.

I climbed onto my 1953 Triumph and looked up the hill to where a group of my friends were standing, looking on. My old childhood friend Tommy Rochford was grinning at me, cropped hair gelled stiff and sticking straight up from his head. Him and Mick Bolger, Caz and Ziggy Balinski: the five of us used to hang out all the time. In the summer we’d float miles down the river on inner tubes. Mostly, though, we rode motorbikes. It was Tommy and his Maico 400 Enduro that got me hooked: I remember listening to him racing through the woods above our house.

‘Good seeing you, Charley,’ he called out now. ‘I’ll see youse when you get back.’

Russ started his Norton 850 Commando, and Mungo his Triumph Trident T160. I fished out the crude map I’d drawn on a scrap of paper.

‘I thought we had GPS,’ Russ said.

‘We do. This is for back-up. Annamoe to Dublin, Dublin to Kilkeel. Then over here,’ I tapped the bottom right-hand corner, ‘that’s Australia.’

‘Right. See you there, then.’

Our first stop was Kilkeel in County Down, where we planned to stay the night. The next morning we were due to join a scallop boat that would take us to the Isle of Man. In all the years of the TT I’d never made it there; now I would be arriving on a dredger.

It was suddenly a little surreal, trundling down the drive while Tommy and the others waved from the hill where I used to jump my old Yamaha DT100. Glancing back at Dad I felt a mixture of excitement and sadness to be leaving him. I thought of Olly, Doone and Kinvara - at least I would see them briefly on Tuesday in London. But after that I wouldn’t be back until August. I hadn’t intended to do another expedition so soon and I had a lump in my throat and a bit of a wobble in the old chin. Yet in the same moment I could not have been more excited.

The countryside we were riding through now was so familiar; the roads wet, pine trees covering the lower slopes that dominate this part of Wicklow. I might live in London but this was home away from home and it was a thrill to be back. As we climbed the hills we passed a spot where Dad and I had filmed an autobiographical film in 1991 called I Dreamt I Woke Up with John Hurt and Janet McTeer. There had been a scene involving a mummified body in a peat bog. When lunchtime came we took off to the Roundwood Inn as we always did. We didn’t bother to tape the area, just took the equipment down to the village and left the dummy half-buried in the marsh. While we were having lunch a couple of Australian backpackers came across what they thought was a bronze-age body. Convinced that they’d made the discovery of the century, they phoned the police in Dublin. The local guard,  Sergeant Cronen, knew all about the filming, but as no one bothered to involve him, he didn’t tell them anything. By the time we got back up the hill the place was alive with gardai and reporters. It was hysterical, particularly when Dad asked them what the fuck they thought they were doing trampling all over his film set.

Remember what I said about the weather in Ireland being like nowhere else in the world? We were hit by every kind of weather imaginable on this first leg through the mountains to Dublin. Wind, rain, sunshine, hail and even snow.

I was a bit worried about my saddle, which was a tad uncomfortable - the bike was designed for blatting about town, not really for long runs like this. Ewan had ordered a similar bike after seeing a feature on ‘The Baron Speed Shop’ in Classic Bike  magazine. The Speed Shop is all about ‘Bobbers’: cut-down stock bikes; a style that grew up in America in the 1950s. When I saw what they’d produced I’d wanted one myself.

At the beginning of the year I phoned the owner, Dick Smith, and arranged to meet him at his workshop. Dick works with his partner Del Russell, burning the midnight oil to build these really incredible hand-crafted bikes. He’s real south London - he was like the kind of guys who hung out at the Ace Cafe back in the sixties.

Dick met me in a quiet residential street in Catford and led me down a grassy alley to his workshop. Well, I say workshop - it was actually a garden shed. The end wall was draped with the skull and crossbones, a rigid frame hung from the ceiling and boxes of parts were stacked right up to the roof. It was barely big enough to swing a cat, never mind build a bespoke motorbike.

Leaning on the work bench, Dick lit a cigarette. ‘So what kind of thing were you thinking of?’

Good question. I’d always known what I wanted in my mind’s eye, but to describe it . . .

Ten minutes later he was nodding. ‘So we’re talking about something in black, something with big bore TT pipes coming up under the crank case . . .’

‘Yes,’ I said. ‘That sounds about right.’

‘Rigid frame with a two-inch stretch,’ he was making notes  mentally. ‘Like a sort of 1930s broad-track racer. OK, mate; leave it with me and I’ll scribble something down.’

The rigid frame had been stretched all right but as for ‘something in black’ . . . We all wanted black, apparently. Dick delivered something in cherry red instead. I suppose that’s designers for you - you tell them what you want and they build what they’ve always wanted to build. You pay for it and they’re happy. But then so are you because the bike is absolutely gorgeous.

 



Although we had no back-up vehicles this time, we had planned as much as we could. That was only sensible: you can’t just travel across the world without proper planning. We’d created an operations centre at our old workshop on Avonmore Road, with computers and maps, and books covering some forty different countries scattered all over the place. This time we needed not only a route, but also a rough idea of some of the transport we would use. We’d had lots of ideas: North Sea trawlers, the Danish Coastguard, the ICE-T train in Germany. There were a bunch of people working on it, most of whom had worked on our three previous trips - Lucy, Jo, Ollie and Lisa. We worked out there were some thirty-eight countries to get through between Ireland and Australia - including China, which had closed the border from Nepal into Tibet. We had to find a way around that problem and we had to consider the politics of other places. So much of Asia was in a state of flux: Afghanistan, Pakistan . . . Burma was closed to any kind of film-maker. We also wanted to do something with UNICEF along the way, as we had with Long Way Round and Long Way Down.

It was a movable feast and things changed all the time: much of what we thought we could do we found out was impossible, and some of what we thought might be impossible turned out to be OK. After a lot of hard graft we came up with a route and a list of different forms of transport. The first handover, if you like, was from motorbike to the fishing boat at Kilkeel and it would be monumentous.

That’s not a word, is it? My mum’s always telling me that being dragged around the world without proper schooling has given me what she calls a sort of ‘unsophisticatedness’. (Which isn’t really  a word either.)

It felt monumentous to me, though, standing at Kilkeel harbour later that afternoon. I wondered how big our boat would be: some looked pretty small. My sense of adventure began to wane as I had visions of massive waves and throwing up all the way to the Isle of Man. Oh well, I’d find out before the sun came up.

We were due to sail with the morning tide and had booked a hotel in town for the night. What we hadn’t counted on was the Orangemen’s marching season. I’d always thought the bands marched in July yet here we were in April and they were out in numbers. We were told they’d be parading up and down outside the hotel until at least midnight. After that there was a disco, and my room was right above it. I had a feeling it was going to be a long night.

Upstairs I went through my gear. When Russ first talked about the trip he was thinking about the spirit of the old days, a sort of ‘round the world in eighty days’ feel. His forte is getting things done, working with production teams and logistics, but this would give him a chance to pursue some of his passions too. I just knew that somewhere along the line we’d be on a steam train. A friend of mine called Richard Gauntlet runs an antique shop in Pimlico, and he found this old case and had my initials printed on it. It was great, and I loved it, but it was also, I have to say, really heavy. Now I was handing my bike over, it was mine to carry pretty much till we got to Australia.

 



The alarm woke me at four-forty-five a.m. At least I think it did. I don’t know if I actually got any sleep; the night was full of drums and flutes; disco music pounding into my room. Bleary-eyed but excited I met Russ and Mungo downstairs and the three of us made our way to the harbour.

I needn’t have worried about the size of the boat. We would be sailing on the Q-Varl of Ramsey, Isle of Man, one of the largest scallop vessels out there. The skipper was a white-haired, bearded guy called Raymond Hatton, who spoke with a broad Lancastrian accent. He’d been in the merchant navy before becoming a scallop diver and buying his own boat. In fact it actually belonged to the  whole Hatton family, which meant that if he wanted some time off either his son or his grandson Danny could run the crew. This seemed a great idea to me. He introduced us to the five crewmen. One of them - a tall, lanky guy - seemed familiar. I soon realised why: this was Conor Cummins, a road racer who also rides short circuit in the British Superstock series. He’s lapped the Isle of Man at an average speed of 126.4 mph, only six miles an hour slower than John McGuinness’s lap record. I had thought Conor was part of the regular crew, but it turned out that his cousin worked the boat. Conor told me that when he found out we’d be aboard he decided to come along for the craic.

After requesting permission to board we took a look around. The boat was blue-hulled with a white wheelhouse; a dredging arm on each side with ten enormous chain-link scallop nets. It was tall, I mean high in the water, three decks: one for the gear, another where they sorted the catch and the fish deck where the bagged scallops were stored.

The channel was narrow and we sailed with the tide because Raymond wanted plenty of water under the keel. It still looked very difficult to me; we had to zigzag to make it beyond the tight harbour walls before negotiating a sandbank. It was a masterful piece of captaincy, all performed against a dramatic backdrop - street lights reflected in the still water, the town dominated by low cloud draping the Mountains of Mourne. I stood on deck thinking: ‘This is it.’ We were leaving our first block of land, heading out on a brand-new journey.

Russ came over. ‘They say there’s a bit of weather out there: that’ll be a laugh.’

I looked sideways at him. ‘Will they give us breakfast, d’you reckon?’

Would they ever - we were soon presented with kippers, bacon, eggs, toast and beans, the first of many fabulous meals on our trip. As we ate we discussed our schedule for the day. The plan was to steam across the Irish Sea to the twelve-mile fishing zone round the Isle of Man. The zone was known as Area 7, and was closed from June to the end of October to allow scallop stocks to recover. From the beginning of November the boats could fish from six p.m. until nine p.m. If they wanted to fish after nine p.m. they had  to go outside the twelve-mile limit where the catch was a lot more scarce.

As we headed into the open sea I was soon caught up in the adventure of it all. David Jackson, who’d cooked breakfast, showed us the engine room where 500 hp of diesel was hammering away so loudly you couldn’t think without ear defenders. The crew had bunks with alarms fitted above them so that when the dredges were down and they grabbed an hour’s sleep, they could be woken in time to bring the gear in. They’d spend a week at sea, sleeping little and working hard: fishing until the fish room was stocked with three to four hundred large bags of scallops. Each bag was worth between £65 and £100 and they needed to fill at least four every time they pulled up the dredges.

It was a four-hour steam to the fishing grounds, 46 nautical miles. We were travelling at 8.4 knots per hour; a knot being 1.16 nautical miles. (The difference between a nautical mile and a land or statute mile is that the nautical mile takes account of the curvature of the earth.) When we got to the fishing grounds we gave the crew a hand with the dredges, which are hoisted by crane, hooked on to two massive booms and then run out on a cable and dragged along the sea bed. Raymond’s grandson Danny told me that one time he was working the cable and chatting away to another member of the crew when the wire ran out: it just rolled off the winch and disappeared over the side leaving thousands of pounds of dredge lying on the bottom.

An hour and a half after we’d dropped them the dredges were hauled in again and the catch was shaken into a trough that runs along the sides of the boat. The scallops and much of the debris that came with them were shunted to the conveyor on the deck below - a great clattering, vibrating machine that sorted everything in about fifteen minutes. Along with scallops we had lumps of rock, squid, starfish, as well as scallops that were less than 110 mm in size. These had to be thrown back. Raymond told me that if the boat was found to have even two or three undersize scallops among the catch they’d be fined at least £500. The penalties for fishing a ‘closed box’ - a no-go area where you were not allowed to fish - were far more severe: a £7,000 fine and your gear confiscated.

The crew shared the work between them; when the alarms went off they’d pile out of their bunks and on to the deck, music blasting through speakers made from a couple of old tool boxes. As soon as the catch had been shaken out the nets were back in the water.

Meanwhile, David fried up some of the catch for lunch, fresh scallops with a bit of garlic and a green salad. God, this was the life.

After a couple of hours at the fishing grounds we headed for Douglas, the capital of the Isle of Man. Russ and I leant on the rail with the wind in our faces, watching the rocky coastline, the surf crashing against the base of the cliffs. A lighthouse dominated the headland and we chugged into the harbour with whitewashed buildings scattered across the hillside.

So many great racers lived here: Neil Hodgson, who was riding for Honda in the AMA Superbike series, James Toseland, the only Brit in MotoGP. Though I’d never been before, the place evoked bittersweet emotions. Ewan and I used to run David Jefferies in British Superstock. He was one of the great characters of bike racing and was killed practising for the TT in 2003. I couldn’t help but think about him now: he’d been undisputed king of the mountain and I still missed him - but he died doing what he loved.
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King of the Mountain

The following morning I was outside the hotel with a classic MV Agusta burbling away in front of me. Older bikes need to be warmed up properly to avoid placing unnecessary stress on the engine: it’s when a bike is cold that things can break suddenly.

I was really excited about today. A little later I’d be hooking up with John McGuinness, the current ‘king of the mountain’, and together we’d do a lap of the 37.75-mile circuit. There was somebody I needed to speak to first, though, and he was waiting for me on the start-finish straight.

The Isle of Man TT is the most famous and the most dangerous motorbike race in the world. Someone who can testify to the latter is Richard ‘Milky’ Quayle. Milky - a tall, slightly built guy with glasses - got his nickname from his resemblance to the Milky Bar Kid. He’s Manx, a local who won four TT races in his time. His final race was last year and with his wife expecting a baby, he decided enough was enough. Not before he’d spent two weeks in a coma, though. I met him by the pit board where the lap times and rider placings are still recorded manually by local scout troops. He pointed out a few racing landmarks and we talked about the speeds riders get up to. Then he took me to the spot where his 160 mph crash had been captured on home video.

It had been an horrendous crash - and standing with Milky on the exact spot where it happened really brought it home. Milky knows the circuit like the back of his hand but he’d had set-up problems and the bike wasn’t working quite how he wanted it to. He was blatting through a narrow, wooded section when he came to a jagged rock wall at a really fast left-hander. Tipping in a fraction too early, he brushed the wall with his shoulder. There was barely any contact but at 160 mph it was enough to rip his hands off the bars and send him and the bike careering across the road and into the far wall. The wall exploded, the bike disintegrated and Milky was thrown twenty feet into the air and a hundred and fifty feet down the road before he landed under some trees. His left shoulder was smashed, his ankle was shattered, his lungs collapsed, one kidney packed up and he lost his spleen. He doesn’t remember much about it because he was knocked unconscious and stayed that way until he woke up in hospital two weeks later. Having watched the footage on the web then listened to him talk me through it, I was staggered he was standing there at all. It just shows that no matter how many races you’ve won or how intimately you know the circuit, all you have to be is a fraction off line and it can be curtains.

The video footage Milky showed me was still raw in my mind as I waited for John to arrive: I was about to do the lap myself and would ride through that cutting. Before long I saw a white sports bike gunning up the road towards me, the rider wearing race leathers. Pulling up, he lifted the visor on his helmet. ‘Hello, Charley,’ he said. ‘John McGuinness.’

Since 2004 John’s won every superbike race on the island. He is a superstar of road racing, one of the gods, yet he’s the most down-to-earth guy you could wish to meet. Milky told me that - professional or amateur - there are no prima donnas at the TT; everyone is there because they love racing bikes and John is no different. His favourite part of the track is a left/right kink where he’s doing just shy of two hundred miles an hour. No matter how many times he does it he gets the same rush. He’s a lovely guy, a great laugh, and he was really up for showing me round.

I was on the classic MV which threatened to tank slap when I let go of the handlebars: John was on a stock Fireblade and he popped  the front wheel beautifully as we set off. It was an incredible couple of hours, riding right behind the world record holder. The lap was so varied it was soon clear to me that it would take years to learn it well enough to be both safe and competitive. There are long, blisteringly fast straights, hairpins in the middle of villages, flying sections through built-up areas that scare the shit out of you, wooded glens like the one where Milky overcooked it, not to mention the mountain and the wind-blown roads bisecting farmers’ fields.

Riding at my side, John talked me through the technical parts and the really fast stretches. There are a couple where you flash by the houses at more than 190 mph and one in particular sent my stomach into a flip. You’re tearing along when suddenly this wall appears as if it’s right in front of you. It’s actually marking a bend, but as you race up it looks like it is dead ahead and you’re going to crash into it. Your eyes are telling you there’s nowhere to go while your memory is telling you it’s a corner and to keep going. Steve Hislop was a few centimetres off line there once and banged his head on the wall.

There’s no speed limit on the open road and I tried to follow as John wound the Blade up to more than 170. I had the MV off the ground at Ballaugh Bridge, landing with a bit of wobble, but this was the TT circuit and Ballaugh is one of those magical landmarks. Out of the village, John cranked the throttle again. The road was incredibly bumpy now and I was thinking: ‘Oh my God, imagine taking this at one sixty with the wheels off the deck one minute, and suspension and the forks on full compression the next.’ I suddenly remembered something that Milky had told me. He said that it’s a long lap and riding it in race conditions your mind can begin to wander. The thought of taking my mind off what I was doing even for one second made me laugh out loud.

We were approaching the mountain now. It was very windy here, with the fields rolling down to the sea. We were climbing, John leading me into a hard and fast right-hander: past the waterworks where a low wall marks the edge of the road and beyond . . . a hell of a long fall. It’s only when you ride the roads, even at relatively slow speeds, that you have any idea of just how on the edge the racers really are, not to mention the hundreds of amateurs who come here from all over the world.

John led me to the goose neck and the start of the mountain. From fourth gear you’re on the brakes and down to second, then accelerating hard to the mountain mile itself. By the time you get to Guthrie’s memorial you’ve taken three consecutive left-handers and are all but flat out. (Jimmy Guthrie raced for the first time in 1923: he rode a Matchless in that race before winning in 1930 on an AJS. He was killed in 1937 at the German Grand Prix. The memorial marks the cutting where he was forced to retire from the TT.)

The whole island is steeped in history - not just the course and the competitors, but the crowd, the pit crews, the volunteers. Every year hundreds of people help out, including marshals like Gwen Crellin, who has been outside her house in Ballaugh at five a.m. every TT day for the last thirty-eight years. Like all the riders, John would give her a wave as he passed during practice. In the races he’d try and lift a finger; Gwen understood: he was a little busier then.

We stopped at the Creg Ny Baa, a pub that marks a right-hand bend on the hill and honours Geoff Duke, the six-time TT winner and six-time world champion. He’s eighty-five now, but meeting him there and seeing him face to face, you would never know it.

It was an amazing experience to sit with a former king of the mountain along with the current one, talking about a racing history that’s spanned one hundred years. I asked Geoff if the course had changed much since his time.

‘The basic shape hasn’t changed,’ he said. ‘But the way you ride it has. Windy Corner, McQuarrie’s, they used to be taken in second gear and now they’re just about flat out.’

He told me that during his first race, the Manx TT of 1950, he pulled into the pits for fuel. His mechanic topped him up with both petrol and oil and as he rode away Geoff could feel the back end slithering. He realised that oil was spilling onto the back tyre. Cursing his mechanic for overfilling the tank he had to scrub the speed off until the heat in the tyres burned up the oil. But in fact the mechanic hadn’t overfilled the tank. Unbeknown to either of them it had actually split. Just as Geoff approached the mountain the engine seized. Managing to keep control he got the bike stopped and leant it against the wall. Helmet off, he wandered over to a mechanic at the mountain mile checkpoint.

‘What number are you?’ the mechanic asked him.

‘Twelve.’

‘Really.’ The man nodded calmly at the stricken bike. ‘Shame about that, you were leading.’

It was the end of his race that day but Geoff went on to win six times. He told me he loved every minute of racing. In 1950 the prize money for winning the senior TT was £200 but he couldn’t have cared less; he did it for the sheer enjoyment. It’s much more commercial today but even so, John races for the love of it just as Geoff did. In Geoff’s time the roads weren’t so smooth, the bikes were less powerful and the tyres less sticky. They had to use the same tyres for both wet and dry conditions. The roads were heavily cambered back then, which meant the riders had less road surface to play with, all of which made a huge difference. Different eras mean different standards of bike and therefore different hazards: Geoff rode his machinery every bit as hard as John rides his now.

Sitting there with the two of them, the spirit of the race was really brought home to me. John told me that every year before the race began he would visit Fairy Bridge to say hello and keep the fairies on his side - he’ll do anything that he thinks might help him when it comes to race day. He even wears the same socks and underpants throughout the entire festival for luck. He does wash them daily, though, he assures me.

As Russ and I boarded the ferry to Liverpool I vowed I’d be back. I stood at the rail and watched as the island with its banks of three-storey terraces slipped away, still not quite believing that I’d just ridden a lap with the fastest man ever around the circuit. What an incredible experience.

However, it was time to turn our attention to the next stage of our journey. Russ and I headed to the bridge, and asked the captain of the ferry if we could join him. His name was Joe and his assistant was a mad-keen biker chick called Laurie. She lived on the Isle of Man and rode a Honda 350. Every year during the racing she made sure she was on the car deck to tie down the three hundred bikes that crossed every time the ferry sailed.

Joe showed us the bridge and its mind-boggling array of screens and dials, sonar, radar and GPS systems. It looked very hi-tech,  though in fact the vessel was ten years old. I was looking for the wheel, but Joe just pointed to a tiny little joystick, like something from a games console. The skipper steered the ferry with it using just his left hand. Meanwhile four massive engines powered jets which chucked water out of the stern at a rate that could fill an Olympic-sized swimming pool in thirty-six seconds.

We raced across the Irish Sea at 34 knots with Joe calm and composed at the ‘wheel’. When we docked in Liverpool - after cruising up the Mersey past the Liver Building - he eased the massive boat into the berth just by feathering a couple of levers. He was as much in his element as Geoff Duke had been; as John McGuinness when he was catching air at Ballaugh Bridge. It struck me that this was what this trip was all about; a chance to step into other people’s lives for a little while.

From the docks it was a mad dash to the station and Platform 7 for the train to Coventry. Russ had jumped in a cab but Mungo and I had been messing around and had to wait for the next one. Sitting hunched in the back with my suitcase on my knees, I realised we were ten minutes away from the station with the train leaving in five.

No worries, our cabbie knew a short cut and beetled through the traffic, pulling up as close to Platform 7 as he could get. We piled out, bags in hand, and legged it towards the train. I could hear the whistle blowing. I could see the guard on the platform. I could also see Russ trying to keep the doors open. Stumbling past the guard I threw my bag in and followed it just as the doors closed.

Russ tapped the face of his watch. ‘If we’re going to cut the whole trip this fine, we ain’t going any further. You know what I mean?’

 



We were planning to camp for the night at the Coventry Transport Museum. My bike from Long Way Round was on display there and it made sense (or so I thought) to call in. That was before I learned that the museum was haunted.

We met Steve, one of the curators, outside the museum. It’s a wonderful place, well worth the visit. The timelines of the world  are lit up in blue across the concourse and arriving in darkness we had the full effect. Inside there’s a fantastic scene of London during the Blitz, with rubble everywhere and an old Austin lying on its side.

Russ marched in, stripped off his clothes, dumped them in a pile in front of a classic Bentley, and headed for a shower. I shook my head, suddenly remembering why I always refused to share a room with him.

‘Is the place really haunted?’ I asked Steve. ‘Russ will be up for that; he’s into ghosts. One night he slept in a haunted hotel room with a couple of cameras set up.’ I didn’t mention that I’d had my own encounter with a ghost just last year, while staying in a haunted sixteenth-century Scottish castle at the start of Long Way Down. I’d woken up with a mysterious black bruise around my eye, and really didn’t want a repeat of that experience.

‘Did he see anything?’ Steve asked.

‘No.’

‘He might here.’

‘Oh great.’ I could feel a shiver up my spine.

‘We’ve got a collection of old bicycles upstairs,’ Steve explained. ‘They were donated by an old chap who died while he was riding one of them.’

I could feel the shiver extending to my buttocks.

‘One of our assistants was in there the other day,’ Steve continued, ‘and she saw this old gentleman in tweeds, bald head and a beard, sitting on one of the bikes. I had an old cycling magazine in the office and . . .’

‘Don’t tell me.’

He nodded. ‘I found his obituary from years ago. It was the same man the assistant had just seen up in the bike room.’

‘Cool, eh, Charley?’ Russ had returned from the shower. ‘I don’t know where you’re sleeping, mate, but I’m going to camp in the bike room.’

No chance. Instead I camped alongside the motorbike I’d ridden round the world. It was exhibited next to a pristine E-type Jag convertible. My old rally suit was there, too. I still miss that suit. There was a glass case with some of the stuff Ewan and I had left in our pockets: a compass, some coins, a couple of cassette tapes.  It brought back lots of great memories. Leaving Russ to the ghost of Sammy Bartley, I blew up my mattress and unrolled my sleeping bag.

I glanced at my bike, my old suit and helmet. I looked up at the ceiling. Not quite out in the cuds, but it was near enough.
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Let There Be Bikes

The floor was hard, and my sleeping bag was a bit too hot, but I slept pretty well, all things considered. I woke up a few times but there were no ghosties; at least none that I saw. No black eye either, which was a relief.

Russ came down at six looking bleary-eyed but rested. I asked him if he’d seen any ghosts.

He shook his head. ‘I was knackered. That old man could have ridden his bike right past me and I wouldn’t have heard him.’

This morning we were back on the bikes, heading for the Ace Cafe in London. We’d ride to junction 10 of the M40 where, please God, there would be some bikers waiting for us. We’d advertised the ride on our website and I was hoping a few people would come out to support us. Motorcycle News had also done a piece about the expedition the previous week and we’d invited anyone who wanted to join us as far as the Ace Cafe to show up at eight-thirty at the services. Twenty would do. If there were twenty I’d be really happy. It would be a real downer if there were only one or two.

My bobber looked gorgeous this morning. Turning the petrol on I tickled the carb, kicked her over and the little beauty thundered into life with a snarling crackle. We were escorted from the  museum by a Vintage Daimler limo - I followed it off the slip road but Russ and Mungo, giving it large, missed the turning completely.

Lost already and we’d not even left Coventry.

At last Russ appeared from the roundabout in front of me and not long after him Mungo showed up looking a little sheepish.

I could only manage 55 mph without being blown off: being a bobber the bike is naked; the consideration being style rather than aerodynamics. I started thinking about sailing across the Channel the next day. I was nervous: Russ and I had spent a few days in Southampton getting ‘boat and wind aware’, as the instructor called it. We’d capsized our dinghy in no wind at all and tomorrow we’d be sailing one of the busiest shipping lanes in the world. I knew I should have practised more, but instead of learning to sail properly I’d been taking flying lessons.

The exit for the services came up, and all thoughts of sailing left my mind. Leaving the motorway I climbed the hill and swung left into the services. Please God, let there be bikes . . . Bloody hell! Forget twenty - there were more like three hundred. I was gobsmacked; the whole car park was solid with chrome and leather. A sea of bikes and riders surrounded us. It was incredible, and I could feel a lump in my throat as they crowded around, patting us on the back and offering to buy tea and coffee. This was Tuesday, a work day, and here we were at eight-thirty in the morning with hundreds of bikers who had taken the time and trouble to see us off. We were all speechless.

We set off again and I’m afraid to say that with so many motorbikes we ended up blocking all three lanes of the M40. We had just never expected such a turnout. I rode at the head of the convoy, feeling euphoric and humbled by the support. Every now and then we’d manage to squeeze into two lanes to let the traffic by.

 



Riding into London we joined the North Circular, heading for Willesden and the Ace Cafe. A large, flat-roofed, white building, it is the caff of all caffs. Built in 1938, it was destroyed by the Luftwaffe in World War Two, but rebuilt in 1949. Rockers started  hanging out there in the fifties, making the most of the twenty-four-hour service. Ever since then it has been a bikers’ haven, and is rightly famous around the world.

As we pulled in we brought the North Circular to a standstill, three hundred bikes trying to turn into the cafe. I saw my wife Olivia standing with my daughters, Doone and Kinvara, along with Russ’s parents Jill and Tony. My mum Christel was also there with my twin sister Daisy. (My mum says the first time she saw me on a motorbike was when she asked me to go to the garden and fetch some potatoes. I was with my mate Caz and we rode through the patch on his bike as fast as we could, using the back wheel to churn the spuds from the ground. Bucket after bucket we brought in, broken - or, as we saw it, ‘ready mashed’. My mother thought it was very ingenious . . .)

With my family around me it was hard to accept that it would be months before I saw them again. Olly copes but it’s not easy. Doone and Kinvara go to different schools which are in opposite directions. Normally I take one of them but for the next few months I wouldn’t be there. Olly passed her motorbike test recently and planned to buy a moped so she could drop Kinvara, then come back for Doone.

But at least they were joining me on the next short leg of my trip. I was leaving my bike at the Ace Cafe in exchange for a bright red London Routemaster, which I would drive down to Shoreham-by-Sea. I’d never driven a bus before and was dying to get going. It would be the perfect way to say goodbye. In Shoreham we’d hook up with the RNLI and take a lifeboat to Brighton.

We said goodbye to all the friends who’d come to see us off and then, climbing into the cab, I slid open the window. My instructor, a man called Peter Barrington, was hunched behind me. My first lesson would be driving the North Circular. My family were in the back along with Jill and Tony, Russ’s daughter Emily and his girlfriend Sarah. They wouldn’t be seeing him for a long time either. I started the engine and pulled out with hundreds of people waving us off. It was the most brilliant send-off, and I couldn’t have asked for a more positive start to the expedition.

Ever since I was a kid I’d wanted to drive a Routemaster. First built in 1954, it’s a design classic. I couldn’t think of a better way  to leave the capital. It wasn’t hard to drive - a bit like an automatic car (only bigger, of course). Steering is the only tricky part; the wheel is huge and flat and you have to make constant adjustments to keep the thing straight.

It was wild, like something from Summer Holiday. Once we got to Shoreham I drove through the narrow streets to the harbour, squeezing past parked cars. Somehow, miraculously, I managed not to take one of them out along the way. I found a space, parked and jumped down.

I gave Emily a squeeze and told her I’d look after her dad, and said goodbye to the rest of Russ’s family. Then I kissed Olly and the kids. Olly patted me on the bum. ‘You’ll be fine,’ she told me. ‘And don’t worry, so will we.’

Russ, Mungo and I crossed the beach to the square brown building where the lifeboat was housed. Talk about ‘by any means’; I was going to pilot a 47-foot All Weather Lifeboat. We met up with coxswain Peter Huxtable, who explained that the boat could capsize and right itself whilst remaining watertight, which was reassuring. He was going to launch it down the slipway just as they would for a rescue and then take us on to Brighton. From there we’d pick up a Land Rover and drive to Dover.

The RNLI is funded solely by donations. The charity costs £100 million a year to run - there are 230 stations covering the UK and the Republic of Ireland - and they have to raise that money entirely themselves. As an island, Britain is particularly vulnerable to accidents at sea, and when people get into difficulty their lives depend on these brave volunteers. We were a couple of novice sailors ourselves, and it was good to know that when we crossed the Channel tomorrow the RNLI would be there if, God forbid, we needed them.

When the RNLI was founded in 1865 the boats were rowed out to rescue in all weathers. Now - thankfully - they are powered by diesel, but Peter said the RNLI was finding it harder and harder to get crews together. In my eyes, the people who volunteered were true heroes, risking their lives 24/7. If you’re going to volunteer for something and you live by the sea, I can’t think of anything more fulfilling or worthwhile.

Keen to get going as always I asked Charlie Hubbard, the  second coxswain, to explain how the boat was launched. We were standing in the boathouse under the massive blue hull.

‘We lower her forwards,’ he said, ‘then take off the safety chains and she falls over on the cradle.’

I gazed the length of the concrete slipway. It had what looked like a tramline - known as a keelway - running down the middle, not much wider than the boat itself. It was V-shaped with concrete sides topped with wooden pilings. There were metal walkways above our head, and beyond the keelway I could see the harbour walls and the open sea.

‘The cradle is hydraulically controlled,’ Charlie explained. ‘It comes down level with the slipway and away she goes.’ He showed me how the keel fitted into the greased keelway before the boat slid into the sea under its own weight.

A few minutes later Russ and I were kitted out in drysuits, standing on the bows as the crew prepared to launch. I couldn’t get the smile off my face. First the convoy, then a London bus and now a lifeboat for God’s sake - all in one day. We gripped the rail and moments later we were moving, sliding towards the water at a thirty-degree angle. It was low tide, and as we hit the water it erupted, spray exploding high over the bows, soaking us and foaming about our feet. It was brilliant - like a rollercoaster ride - and yet much smoother than I’d thought it would be.

Outside the harbour Peter let me take control and I piloted from the open cockpit. It was a great boat, very powerful and very manoeuvrable. I guided us the five miles to Brighton where we were met by a RIB from that station. They had one of their crew fall overboard and we performed a rescue, coming around him upwind then drifting in gently. A couple of the crew climbed over the side and hung off the rope netting to haul him on board.

I steered the ALB into harbour at five knots then handed over to Peter to take us alongside. Shaking hands, we grabbed our bags and ran up the weed-encrusted steps to the harbour wall where the Land Rover was waiting for us.

I got behind the wheel with Russ in the passenger seat and Mungo perched among the gear we’d tossed in the back.

‘It’s a double declutch,’ I said. ‘I bet I do nothing but grind the gears all the way.’

As we headed gingerly out of town, I pointed out the house where my grandmother used to live.

‘Right on the seafront,’ Mungo said. ‘Nice.’

‘She used to swim in the sea every day. Well almost every day - right up until she was eighty.’

‘Really?’ Russ looked back: the house was part of a Georgian terrace and whitewashed like those on the Isle of Man.

‘Yeah. Don’t forget - my dad’s seventy-five and he still swims in the river at Annamoe.’

We plodded up the hill. Russ sat back with his arm across the seats. ‘You know how these old Mark I’s came about, don’t you? Mr Wilks, the man who owned the Rover car company, had an old World War Two jeep. He and his brother put a Rover engine in it then realised they could build something better. They made the first one of these in 1948 as a sort of stop gap to boost sales at the car company.’

I looked round at him. ‘You getting those voices in your teeth again, Russ? Like in Long Way Down?’

‘Nope.’ Russ grinned. ‘Roger, the guy we got it from, told me.’

We held up the traffic all the way along the white cliffs to Dover. Bit of a theme for the day, that. The Land Rover broke down twice, well once actually: the first time I accidentally switched the engine off when I was trying to find the lights to flash someone. The second time we were spluttering a bit and coughing smoke and finally it conked out. An electrical lead had come off. Between us we got it going again and finally made it to the seafront hotel in Dover. Unloading my case I looked at the water, half excited and half terrified. I was only too aware that tomorrow we were leaving the country in a twelve-foot dinghy.

That night I prayed for good weather, I prayed for the right tides and I prayed that I’d know what to do after spending too much time in a small aeroplane instead of a boat. We would be sailing a Laser Bahia dinghy made of plastic: the kind we’d trained in and capsized. I didn’t sleep well.

‘It’ll be fine,’ Russ assured me on the beach the next morning, gazing across the sea towards France. It was a bright day, the Channel grey but calm. ‘Just think of the sense of achievement. And who gets to do this, Charley? How many people sail the English Channel in a twelve-foot plastic boat?’

‘How many would want to?’ I muttered miserably.

We headed for the marina where lots of small boats were berthed; it wasn’t cold but it was cloudy. I was glad that Russ was so calm and on the case - he was enjoying himself, I could see that. Mungo too seemed to be unfazed, but then he’d be filming from the support boat. However, I was still feeling very unsure about the whole thing.

‘It’s exactly the right thing to do,’ Russ was saying. ‘Twenty-two miles to France, Charley. It’s perfect.’

The support boat was called the Gallivant, which seemed pretty apt: the three of us gallivanting across the world without the kind of back-up we’d had on previous trips. The skipper, a guy called Lance from Margate, sounded more like a cabbie than a boat skipper. Nelson, his right-hand man, was as laid-back as they come. Glen and Rob, two sailors from Laser, would also be joining us. They would take turns in the dinghy with us if we needed them.

The boat was on the beach and ready to launch as Russ and I got into our black and grey drysuits. They were made of neoprene and very awkward. It was like pulling on some kind of giant body condom.

Mungo wandered over. ‘So anyway,’ he said. ‘Just to cover our arses: what’s plan A and what’s plan B?’

‘You think we’ve got a plan, Mungo?’ I laughed. ‘Of course - you’ve never been with us before, have you? It’s simple: plan A is to get in the boat, get in the water and sort of follow the support boat so we know roughly the direction we’re going.’

‘And plan B is to capsize,’ Russ added.

‘Seriously,’ I said. ‘I’m more concerned about this part of the trip than any other.’

Russ looked supremely confident. ‘I’m excited. It’ll be a doddle; we’ll sit there on one tack and get there in time for tea.’

I wasn’t convinced. I spoke to Lance. ‘So what’s your salty sea-dog opinion?’ I asked him.

He just smiled knowingly. ‘Simple, Charley: as the wind gets up the faster you go.’

Glen, the younger of the two guys from Laser, was rigging the mainsail. ‘Don’t worry,’ he said. ‘A light breeze scheduled to build, perfect sunshine. It’ll be great.’

‘See,’ Russ said. ‘Perfect conditions. Your dad said you lead a charmed life. Remember?’

‘What he actually said was, he’s spent his entire life swimming against the current, while I just floated downstream.’

‘There you go then. No worries.’

With that we dragged the boat into the water.

If we crossed in good time, Russ was right - we would have perfect conditions. But later that afternoon the wind was due to get up. With that thought in mind I took the rudder; Russ, Glen and Rob sitting next to me on the port gunwale to keep the weight spread. It felt all right, but we hadn’t even left the harbour yet and already a fucking great catamaran ferry was pulling in and lifting waves to rock us from a couple of hundred yards away.

‘Over there is France,’ I said, trying to lift my spirits. ‘Good food, good wine, good cheese and sexy women.’

Once we left the harbour it was just me and Russ and our threadbare experience. It was only now that I wondered why I had spent all my time training in a small plane instead of at sea. I’m fine with motorbikes, I can ride well enough on a track, I can ride the dirt, I’d leap one off a cliff if I was asked. I don’t know what it is about boats, but when you’re steering you have to work the mainsail as well as the steering and that sort of freaks me out. In the Channel on our own with massive ferries steaming by, I felt incredibly vulnerable. We seemed to be all over the place, tacking when we should be gybing, gybing when we should be tacking; upwind; downwind, the sail dipping viciously towards the water. And all the time Rob, the serious sailor, was yelling at us from the support boat: ‘Main off! Main off! Straighten up. Straighten up. Let it out, Charley, let it out; that red rope is your accelerator.’

We almost capsized; the boat coming round too quickly, the mainsail filling just as it had when we were training. Only this wasn’t training. The waves were slapping the hull and we were spinning around. Russ grabbed the tiller and we hauled the sail in hard. With the boat heeling all but right over, somehow we managed to save it.

‘Close one,’ Russ said as we got on course again.

‘Close? Close? Fucking hell, mate!’ I was really freaked out now. ‘Ten hours of this, and with the wind getting up this afternoon.’

‘We’ll be all right.’

‘No, we won’t, we’ll drown.’

It was more than daunting - it was absolutely miserable. I kept thinking of ten or more hours at sea in a boat that in my view shouldn’t be on anything bigger than a lake. Something could go very wrong. There were ships ahead and ships behind; there seemed to be ships all round us. We both knew we couldn’t get across on our own whilst avoiding the heavy shipping. The guys in the support boat knew it too. We did our best for a while then Glen and Rob took turns sitting in the bows, directing us.

With that little bit of guidance our confidence grew immeasurably, and with the sky clear above us, we were cutting through the waves. We had wind in the mainsail; the spinnaker fully powered and I couldn’t believe it when Lance yelled across to tell us we were halfway. Halfway! We’d only been going a couple of hours. ‘Shit, Russ,’ I said. ‘We might be able to make this.’

We’d left the English zone and were now in the ‘separation zone’: pretty soon we’d be into French waters. It was actually very enjoyable, though our hands were like prunes and freezing cold because we hadn’t thought to wear gloves. The time flew by, the wind was perfect and I forgot about everything and just concentrated on the sailing.

In the distance I could see sandy beaches, little towns hugging green hillsides. I saw a smile of satisfaction spread over Russ’s face.

‘How many people get to do this?’ he said again. ‘Sail the Channel in a twelve-foot boat?’

‘Not many,’ Rob piped up from the bows. ‘Between you and me it’s the first time I’ve done it, too.’

We could have sailed directly into Calais harbour but that would have taken another three hours so we headed due north for the beach. Terra firma, wow: I was elated. We’d done it; despite all my fears, my nerves, the way small boats had always freaked me out. We’d crossed the Channel in five hours. I danced on the sand. We all shook hands and I hugged Russ: he was jumping about, with elation but also because he needed a pee. With nowhere to go on the beach, he trotted up to the nearest house. A woman answered the door and peered suspiciously at him. It was our first encounter in a new country.

Russ, standing there in his rubber suit, gave her his best smile. ‘Toilette s’il vous plaît, madame?’

‘Non,’ she said, and shut the door in his face.
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Black Tie and Bullet Holes
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After the last few hectic days, we were looking forward to a leisurely drive to Paris. We’d arranged to borrow a classic Citroën DS from a wiry-looking guy called David, which he delivered on a curtain-sided trailer. It was a real gentleman’s car, way ahead of its time and very much in keeping with the next stage of the expedition. The plan was to drive it as far as Paris where we’d  swap it for bicycles. We needed to reach the Gare de l’Est by nine o’clock that evening to catch the Orient Express to Venice.

Checking over the silver Citroën, I was confident we would make Paris in good time. Manufactured in 1969, it was in pristine condition, with smart leather upholstery, power steering, lights that turned with the steering and hydropneumatic self-levelling suspension. The bodywork had been designed by an Italian sculptor called Flaminio Bertoni. After the exertions of our Channel crossing yesterday, the car was right on the money.

From here on it would be just Russ, Mungo and me. I jumped in, Mungo piling into the back with his camera. Russ sat next to me, the map on his knees, ready to navigate. We said goodbye to Lucy, who was standing on the pavement waiting to see us off. Lucy Trujillo is our producer; she has worked on every one of my trips and is absolutely fantastic - completely unflappable in a crisis. She had been working on our visas with Jo and Lisa - always a complicated process on a trip like this. Apart from Iran, the only country we still needed visas for was Laos. A former French colony, it didn’t have an embassy in London but there was one in Paris, so Lucy was using this opportunity to go and get them. But for some strange reason she thought she would get there faster without us.

I got the car going, working out the semi-automatic gearbox and the little plastic button the Citroën had for the brakes. For the first mile or so it was a nightmare, the brakes so sensitive I almost had Russ through the windscreen. But this wasn’t a dinghy, it had an engine and I could work it out. Thinking back on yesterday’s boat trip, I realised it had been a mad idea. We were complete novices and the Channel had been so busy: a container ship would pass miles away and twenty minutes later we’d be rocked by massive waves from the wake. Thank God for the two guys from Laser - if they hadn’t been there I’m not sure we would have made it in ten hours, never mind the five we managed.

Halfway to Paris the Citroën conked out. We were cruising along discussing the expedition and looking forward to a night on the Orient Express, when the car started to splutter. Moments later the engine stopped and we rolled to a halt on the side of the busy dual carriageway.

‘It feels like fuel,’ I said, lifting the bonnet. ‘But the gauge says the tank’s half full.’

Russ got on the radio to David, the car’s owner, who was following in his van. ‘David,’ he said, ‘la voiture est morte.’

David pulled up and took a quick look. He fiddled about for a moment then twisted the key and the car fired into life.

I glanced a little sheepishly at Russ. ‘Didn’t you just know that would happen?’

Back behind the wheel I studied the fuel gauge. It was still reading half full. No problem there then.

I was soon back in my element. On this trip the journey itself was the real destination, and I couldn’t think of anything better than bimbling through France in this wonderful gentleman’s car. ‘This car was so advanced when they built it,’ I said. ‘The faster you go the stiffer the steering gets.’

There was a pregnant pause, then Russ said slowly, ‘The faster you go the stiffer it gets.’

‘The steering, Russ.’ I shook my head sadly. ‘You know, I drove an old Le Mans Jag from Italy to London once; one of those massive soft-tops with a fin on the back. All the way through France people were honking and waving and whenever I stopped they’d crowd around the car.’

Russ was nodding. ‘There’s something personal about old cars; they’ve got a soul, haven’t they?’

‘Especially when they break down,’ Mungo muttered.

‘Anyway,’ I said, ‘people were all over it all the way to Dover.’

‘What happened at Dover?’

‘A lorry driver spat on me.’

Russ took a call from Lucy, then turned to me with a smile. ‘Lucy arrived in Paris about forty minutes before the embassy closed. There was a massive queue for taxis outside the station.’

‘What did she do?’

‘Rented a limo.’

‘She did what?’

‘She didn’t have a choice. It was either queue for ever or take the only form of transport available. She made it to the embassy with five minutes to spare then begged them to process the  application. She told them she’d come from London by boat, train and car and they took pity on her. She’s got to hang around for three hours but she’ll get the visas.’

Good old Luce. We were sorted. Now we just had to work out how to get in. We’d originally planned to enter Laos from the north, after crossing from Nepal to Tibet and then into China. But back in March the Chinese closed the Tibetan border and it looked as though it would stay that way until after the Olympics.

‘We’ll have to think about it nearer the time,’ Russ said. ‘There doesn’t seem to be an option right now though; except maybe trying to go through Burma as tourists.’

Mungo didn’t look convinced. ‘With all this camera gear?’ he said. ‘Somehow I don’t think they’ll go for it.’

Twenty minutes later the Citroën lost power and the engine died again: we were on the motorway now and the closer we got to Paris the busier it was becoming.

David drove past and pulled over. It was too dangerous for him to back up so Russ jumped out and pushed the car to the van. We had the bonnet up again and David cleaned the fuel filter: the car started and off we went again.
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